IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01816

JANICE ERVIN, BY AND THROUGH HER HUSBAND AND NEXT FRIEND, CURTIS ERVIN, ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND AS ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF JANICE ERVIN

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

VS.

DELTA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, et al

APPELLEES/DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CIVIL ACTION NO. CI2005-250

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

OF COUNSEL: GEORGE F. HOLLOWELL, JR. Mississippi Bar No. Post Office Drawer 1407 Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1407 (662) 378-3103 (662) 378-3420(fax) ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Janice Ervin died from a pulmonary embolism shortly after Dr. James Beckham performed a hysterectomy on her in October of 2004 at Delta Regional Medical Center (DRMC) without using any prophylactic measures to reduce the risk of or prevent thromboembolism. Her husband filed a wrongful death action on behalf of himself, Janice's children and her estate against Dr. Beckham and DRMC on September 6, 2005. (R.¹ 4-21) After suit was filed, it was discovered that Dr. Beckman was an employee of DRMC who is responsible for his actions. (R. 143) After a bench trial, the Circuit Court entered judgment against the Ervins. The Ervins timely filed this appeal. (R. 578-591; RE. 5-15)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2004, Janice Ervin, then a 40 year old obese black female with three children, was experiencing pelvic pain and heavy bleeding from irregular periods which made her anemic. (T. 26, 29-34, 115-117; Exs. P1, P2, D1 at 3, 95; RE. 70-72, 253, 277) A CT scan suggested uterine fibroid tumors. (T. 224; Ex. D2 at 228; RE. 287) Her gynecologist, Dr. Beckham, treated her with oral contraceptive hormone therapy three times a day before recommending surgery. (T. 112, 225; Ex. D2 at 225-227, 233-234; RE. 67, 112, 284-286, 288-289) When hormone therapy did not resolve the pain and irregular periods, Dr. Becker recommended a hysterectomy to remove both her uterus and the fibroids. She agreed. The surgery was scheduled for October 15, 2004. (T. 26, 29-30, 50-53, 226-227; Ex. D1 at 132; RE. 44, 113-114) Although deep vein

¹ R. refers to the main record of Clerk's papers; DSR to Defendants' Proposed Supplement to the Record; PSR to Plaintiffs' Proposed Supplement to the Record, and T. to the trial transcript. Ex. P# refers to Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibits; Ex. D# to Defendants' Trial Exhibits. The page numbers following the exhibit numbers are to the Court Reporter's exhibit page numbers.

The testimony and scientific literature use many abbreviations. DRMC (Delta Regional Medical Center); DVT (deep vein thrombosis or blood clot; used interchangeably with VTE); GCS (graduated compression stocking; used interchangeably with TED hose); IPC (intermittent compression device; used interchangeably with SCD); LMWH (low molecular weight heparin); LDUH (low dose unfractionated heparin); PE (pulmonary embolism or blood clot breaking off and traveling to the lung where it often cuts off oxygenation of blood causing death); TED hose (used interchangeably with GCS); SCD (sequential compression device; used interchangeably with IPC); VTE (venous thromboembolism, blood clot; used interchangeably with DVT).

thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE) are known complications of hysterectomy surgery, Dr. Becker did not discuss these specific risks with her. (T. 228; RE. 115)

Mrs. Ervin's admissions documentation shows she was obese and on oral contraceptives. (Ex. D1 at 95, 97; RE. 277-278) Dr. Beckham planned to do a vaginal hysterectomy without opening the abdomen. However, after examining her under anesthesia, he decided the abdominal approach was necessary. (Ex. D1 at 103; T. 490-491; RE. 279, 202-203) The surgery itself lasted one hour and 25 minutes, but Janice was under anaesthesia for one hour and 55 minutes. (Ex. D1 at 106; RE 280) Dr. Beckham did not order the use of any prophylactic measures to reduce the risk of DVT, blood clots or pulmonary embolism either before, during or after Mrs. Ervin's surgery. (T 55; Ex. D1 at 18-23; RE. 45, 257-262)

The Ervins' medical expert, Dr. Miller, has been a gynecologist since 1966. In 1995, he left private practice and joined the teaching faculty at Baylor College of Medicine where he now teaches. His duties include both overseeing others performing surgeries, including hysterectomies, and participating in them himself supervising the performance of surgery by the residents he is teaching. He is responsible for seeing to it that they do the surgery correctly. He intervenes and takes over himself when something occurs which requires more experience than the resident has or when something needs to be corrected. (T. 102-103, Ex. P8; RE. 57-58)

Dr. Miller testified Mrs. Ervin had four of the eight risk factors identified in DRMC's own policies and procedures as increasing her likelihood or risk of developing DVT (clots) leading to pulmonary embolism during or after abdominal surgery. Those risk factors included undergoing major abdominal gynecologic surgery,² obesity, taking birth control pills,³ and having

²DRMC's own policy on use of SCD Compression Systems (Ex. P9) states: **Guidelines**

- Age greater than 40 years
- Surgical Procedure > 2 hours
- Prior history of deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism (except for

I. Indications: The SCD Compression System should be utilized on patients at moderate to high risk of developing deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism. Risk factors include:

passed her 40th birthday. Dr. Miller clearly stated these factors increased her risk enough to require the use of prophylactic measures to reduce the risk of DVT and pulmonary emboli regardless of what term was used to categorize Mrs. Ervin's risk level. (T. 105-111, 113-117, 123-129; RE. 60-66, 68-72, 74-80)

Dr. Miller does not criticize Dr. Beckham's decision to do the surgery. However, Janice Ervin's weight, age, use of oral contraceptives and the type and extent of surgery did increase her risk of DVT/PE to the point where the standard of care required the use of prophylactic measures, in the form of either TED hose or SCD devices *at a minimum*, to reduce the risk or prevent DVT/PE. *At a minimum*, Dr. Beckman should have ordered TED hose or SCD to be put in place before surgery started and continued after surgery until Mrs. Ervin was sufficiently ambulatory to reduce the risk of clots. If he didn't like those measures or think they were

patients diagnosed with either within the last six months)

- Prolonged bed rest or profound venous stasis
- The following surgical procedures
 - > Orthopedic
 - > Neurological
 - \succ Extensive abdominal procedures
 - > OB/GYN (particular cancer surgery)
 - > Extensive vascular surgery
 - \succ Extensive thoracic surgery
 - ➤ Genitourinary
- Obesity
- Malignancy
- Oral Contraceptives

II. Contraindications

• Acute deep vein thrombosis or diagnosis of deep vein thrombosis within six months

- Severe arteriosclerosis or other ischemic vascular disease
- Massive edema of the legs or pulmonary edema from heart disease
- Any local condition in which sleeves would interfere, such as
 - ≻ Dermatitis
 - > Vein ligation (immediate post operative period)
 - ≻ Gangrene
 - ➤ Recent skin graft
 - Extreme deformity of leg

³DRMC's policies stated any use of birth control pills increased the risk of deep vein thrombosis. Mrs. Ervin was taking three times the dose used for birth control and this medication was not stopped prior to surgery. effective, other measures were available. Dr. Beckman's failure to use any prophylactic measures was a breach of the standard of care given Mrs. Ervin's increased risk factors for DVT/PE. (T. 130, 132-134, 176-177; RE. 81, 83-85, 99-100) Dr. Miller did not rest his opinion on a single particular article or text in the scientific literature of his field. Instead, his opinions were based on the totality of his fifty years of practice, his training, his experience (including teaching residents to do such surgery), *his reading of the literature*, attending meetings, and talking to colleagues. (T. 176-177; RE. 99-100)

The defense experts admitted Mrs. Ervin had several increased risk factors for developing DVT documented in the literature they relied on. Among the increased risk factors DRMC's experts and Dr. Beckman admitted were present in this case are obesity, and use of birth control pills. Dr. Beckman also admitted Mrs. Ervin was 40 years old which was an additional factor identified in DRMC's policy on preventing DVT as placing a patient in a risk category higher than low risk. Despite these increased risks which at the very least move the patient out of the low risk category, DRMC's witnesses continue to insist Janice Ervin was a low risk patient for whom no prophylactic measures other than early ambulation were required. Such testimony is directly in conflict with the published scientific literature in the field as well as the policies and procedures adopted by Dr. Beckman's employer DRMC. (T. 491, 493, 519, 529, 611-613; RE. 203-204, 215, 225, 236-238)

In fact, defense expert Dr. Reddix admitted Mrs. Ervin did not qualify as a low risk patient requiring only early ambulation according to the American College of Gynecologists criteria. He agreed according to Table 2 in the ACOG guidelines⁴, Mrs. Ervin would be considered moderate or high risk and the ACOG guidelines recommended use of GCS or IPC devices for patients in her risk classification to reduce the risks from DVT/PE (T. 523-524; RE.

⁴American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Practice Bulletins, "Prevention of Deep Vein Thrombosis and Pulmonary Embolism," *Clinical Management Guidelines for Obstetricians - Gynecologists*, No. 21 <u>ACOG Practice Bulletin</u>, 879-885 (October 2000); hereinafter ACOG guidelines. (R. 481a-481g; RE. 22-28)

219-220) The defense's vascular surgeon expert also admitted that Mrs. Ervin did not satisfy the criteria in the ACOG guidelines for being considered low-risk. (T. 617-618; RE. 239-240)

Dr. Beckman testified he only uses TED hose or SCD regularly in high risk patients. Sometimes he uses them with moderate risk patients. He claims he was not trained to use TED hose or SCD on low risk patients and he believed Mrs. Ervin to be a low risk patient. (T. 251-252; RE. 123-124) Dr. Beckman testified he did not feel Mrs. Ervin had enough risk factors to be considered anything other than low risk for developing DVT. However, he admitted Mrs. Ervin had a number of the risk factors for developing DVT listed in the hospital's practices and procedures for preventing DVT, in the Chest article,⁵ and also in the ACOG guidelines he relied upon to support his opinion. These risk factors included being 40 or older, going through major abdominal surgery, being obese, and being on birth control, oral contraceptive or estrogen therapy. (T. 246, 248-251, 299; RE. 119-123, 132) He also admitted these risks are cumulative as the literature says. (T. 301; RE. 134) Nevertheless, he did not take into account any of these factors in concluding Mrs. Ervin was low risk. The only factors he took into consideration in making his decision about Mrs. Ervin's risk level and whether to order prophylactic measures for her was whether she was over 45, had cancer, previous radiation or a previous DVT. (T. 300; RE. 133) Thus, he treated Mrs. Ervin as if she had no increased risk factors at all.

Dr. Beckham admitted the ACOG standards apply to his practice as a gynecologist certified by the American College of Gynecology. (T. 290-291; RE. 130-131) He claimed he followed these ACOG guidelines in deciding not to order any prophylaxis treatment for Mrs. Ervin. (T. 287-288; RE. 128-129) He acknowledged the ACOG guidelines say "[p]atients in the low risk category *(as defined in Table 2)* who are undergoing gynecologic surgery probably do not need any thromboprophylactic agent as long as they are quickly mobilized." He also acknowledged Table 2 defines low risk as consisting of being under age 40 and surgery lasting

i

⁵William H. Geerts, John A. Heit, G. Patrick Clagett, Graham F. Pineo, Clifford W. Colwell, Frederick A. Anderson, Jr. and H. Brownell Wheeler, "Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism," <u>Chest</u> 338S-400S (2004) (R. 504-553; RE. 31-43) hereinafter CHEST or Chest article.

less than 30 minutes and no additional risk factors. (T. 313-314; RE. 135-136).

Dr. Beckman claimed, however, the Table 2's criteria for classifying patients as low-risk

were irrelevant because of a statement on the bottom of page 880 of the Practice Bulletin saying:

In a univariate analysis of all characteristics identified to be statistically significant related to venous thromboembolism significant variables included recurrent malignant disease, a prior history of DVT, duration of anesthesia greater than 5 hours, prior pelvic radiation, venous stasis changes or venous vericosities and age over 45 years. (11)

(R. 481b; RE. 23) Dr. Beckman claimed this statement modified everything else in the entire

guidelines Bulletin about who fit in a low risk category⁶ because

What the committee did is that wrote this bulletin is they looked at this, these studies, and just came up with some - just some general guidelines, and that's where this table [Table 2] came from. And when you're on a committee making these guidelines, you're going to overshoot the specifics of the exact science that you have just to give some cushion, and so they picked 40 years of age, but the studies show that you've got to get up to 45 before there's any increased risks. The studies don't - don't - don't go along with this, you know, what this [Table 2] is saying. ... I tried to explain to you how they come up with these tables. This is a recommendation based on that data. It's a general guideline as to what a practitioner can follow. But if you look at the studies that they got this from, the age 40 is - is a way overshoot. It really is up to 45. ... but if you go back and look at where they got the information from that study, you know 40 is sort of irrelevant really. The factors don't kick in until they're 45.

(T. 315-316)

However, this testimony by Dr. Beckman is directly contradicted by the guidelines which state in endnote 11 that the sentence on page 880 Dr. Beckman relies on comes from a single study of 411 patients and Table 2 risk levels are based on scientific evidence drawn from more than 100 studies adopted by the 1986 National Institutes of Health Consensus Conference on prevention of venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism published in the Journal of the American Medical Association. The guidelines very clearly state they do not support Dr.

⁶In ¶28, the Circuit Court said the Ervins' expert, Dr. Miller, tried to modify accepted treatment tables to meet his opinion that Mrs. Ervin risk was slightly higher than low risk. However, the only expert who tried to modify any of the tables in the scientific literature was Dr. Beckman who claimed the sentence on page 880 modified Table 2 so that Mrs. Ervin fit in the low risk category. The other two defense experts agreed with Dr. Miller that Mrs. Ervin could not be put in the low risk category under the ACOG guidelines because she did not fit the criteria for low risk in Table 2 of those guidelines. They just claim under their own personal criteria, they would consider Mrs. Ervin as low risk. (T. 523-524, 617-618; RE. 219-220, 239-240)

Beckman's position that a patient is low risk and early ambulation is the only prophylactic treatment required by the standard of care until a patient is over age 45 unless the patient has had cancer, prior radiation, or a previous DVT. (See ACOG guidelines at 880, 882, 883, 885; R. 481b, 481d, 481e, 481g; RE. 23, 25, 26, 28.)

Janice Ervin was at least a moderate risk patient under the literature DRMC's witnesses rely upon and under DRMC's own policies. DRMC's own policies acknowledge TED hose or SCD should be used in patients with the risk factors Janice Ervin had to reduce the risk of DVT. The use of these policies to train nurses and the lack of direct use of the policies by doctors does not change the fact that DRMC has recognized the standard of care applicable to it requires the use of such prophylactic devices in patients such as Mrs. Ervin.

Dr. Miller also testified the nursing staff have a duty as patient advocates to recommend or bring to a doctor's attention the lack of prophylactic measures when none have been ordered prior to surgery on a patient with risk factors for DVT. He was of the opinion that DRMC's nurses breached that duty in regard to Mrs. Ervin because they did not bring the hospital's policy to Dr. Beckman's attention. (T. 105-106, 150; RE. 60-61, 98) When they assessed Mrs. Ervin, the nurses did not request such an order despite the existence of a hospital nursing policy stating such devices were indicated for a patient with Mrs. Ervin's risk factors. The Ervins' nurse expert testified the failure to request such an order from the physician was a breach of the nursing standard of care. Both Dr. Miller and the Ervins' nurse expert testified that if the doctor refused to order prophylactic measures in a patient at risk when brought to his attention by a nurse, the nurse should report that fact up the chain of command so her superiors could work with the medical staff to get something done to help the patient. (T. 343-345, 353-354, 356; RE. 139-144)

.

¢

Ι.

i

l

When defense counsel began cross examining nurse Josh Edwards, he tendered him as an expert in nursing standards of care. The Ervins' counsel objected because Edwards had not been designated as an expert in accordance with the scheduling order and his expert opinions had not

7

been properly disclosed before trial.⁷ The court declined to rule on the motion and allowed the testimony to be taken. (T. 467-471; RE. 16-19) Although the direct examination of Josh Edwards was confined to the events between the time he was called to Mrs. Ervin's room and her arrival at ICU, defense counsel's entire cross examination was devoted to soliciting expert opinions from Edwards as to the standard of care primarily in regard to the use of prophylactic measures to prevent or reduce the risk of DVT. He questioned Edwards about the role of the nursing policies on use of TED hose and SCD devises to prevent DVT in setting the standard of care for nurses and physicians. Edwards testified nursing policies did not apply to doctors. He also testified, over objection, if a nurse brought risk factors listed in the policy to the attention of a physician who still refused to order the devices a nurse would have no duty to report the lack of preventive measures up the chain of command. Finally he testified the nurses did not breach any nursing standard of care in their care of Mrs. Ervin at DRMC. (T. 472-476; RE. 195-200)

Following surgery, Dr. Beckham ordered strict bed rest for Mrs. Ervin for the remainder of that day and the following night. The orders called for the nursing staff to perform turning, coughing and deep breathing exercises every two (2) hours. (Ex. D1 at 22; RE. 261) Whether these orders were followed was disputed. The only mention of turning in the nursing notes are an entry at 12:30 p.m. that she was on her left side and at 3:00 pm (15:00) that she was on her right side. There is no mention of any coughing or deep breathing at these times. She is reportedly awake and talking on the phone and to several visitors at her bedside at 5:25 p.m. (17:25), but there is no indication of turning, coughing or deep breathing at that time. (Ex. D1 at 50; RE. 270) The activity records show she was in the same position for the first four hours after surgery. After changing position during the next two hours, she stayed in the same position on her back for twelve hours straight. The nursing notes and activity logs do not mention coughing or deep

⁷A scheduling order was entered on December 6, 2005 which set a deadline of February 3, 2006 for designating defense experts. This deadline was later extended to December 14, 2007. (R. 49; 202) On January 24, 2006 and December 13, 2007, DRMC designated its expert witnesses. Dr. Beckman was designated as a defense expert but nurse Josh Edwards was not. (R. 129, 333)

breathing at all much less at two hour intervals. (Ex. D1 at 50, 59 particularly the "Position" and "TCDB" lines; RE. 270, 273)

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