## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-01816

JANICE ERVIN, BY AND THROUGH HER HUSBAND AND NEXT FRIEND, CURTIS ERVIN, ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND AS ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF JANICE ERVIN

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

VS.

DELTA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

**DEFENDANT/APPELLEES** 

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi Cause No. CI2005-250

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Prepared and submitted by:

L. CARL HAGWOOD
Mississippi Bar No.
CHRISTOPHER W. WINTER
Mississippi Bar No.
MARY FRANCES S. ENGLAND
Mississippi Bar No.
Wilkins, Stephens & Tipton, PA
Post Office Box 4537
Greenville, Mississippi 38704

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The standard of review for factual determinations made in a bench trial is "the substantial evidence standard." Stanton v. DRMC, 802 So. 2d 142, 145 (Miss. 2001), citing Covington Ctv. v. G.W., 767 So. 2d 187, 189 (Miss. 2000). The trial judge's findings will not be disturbed unless the judge "abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Id. "A circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor, and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." City of Jackson v. Spann, 764 So. 2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000), citing Puckett v. Stuckey, 633 So. 2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993); Sweet Home Water & Sewer Ass'n v. Lexington Estates, Ltd., 613 So. 2d 864, 872 (Miss. 1993); Allied Steel Corp. v. Cooper, 607 So. 2d 113, 119 (Miss. 1992). The findings of a trial court sitting without a jury will not be disturbed unless they are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Id., citing Bell v. City of Bay St. Louis, 467 So. 2d 657, 661 (Miss. 1985). The trial judge is given "the widest possible discretion" in his decision as to whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert. UMMC v. Pounders, 970 So. 2d 141, 145 (Miss. 2007). Further, it is undisputed that a trial judge is charged with determining the credibility of witnesses when the judge sits as the finder of fact. Yarbrough v. Camphor, 645 So. 2d 867, 870 (Miss. 1994).

In his brief, Plaintiff attempts to argue his case de novo; however, the standard of review is the substantial evidence standard, not de novo. Plaintiff tried this case before the trial court, who determined the credibility, weight and admissibility of the evidence. The trial court then entered detailed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law addressing each issue and supporting each finding with substantial, credible and reasonable evidence.

The Plaintiffs' theory of the case is that the national standard of care required Dr. James Beckham, an employed obstetrician/gynecologist at Delta Regional Medical Center, to prescribe compression stocking devices post surgery and that, as a result of this failure, Janice Ervin threw a blood clot from her legs into her lungs, which resulted in her death. At trial, the Plaintiffs also alleged that following the development of the pulmonary embolus, when Ms. Ervin was being transferred to the ICU, that she was transported without supplemental oxygen and that this alleged failure to transport her with oxygen caused or contributed to her death. At trial, the Plaintiffs also alternatively sought to prove that a hospital nursing policy and procedure detailing how to apply compression devices to the legs, if such devices were ordered by a physician, required the nurses to instruct Dr. Beckham to order compression stockings. As a matter of law, and as specifically found by the trial court, the Plaintiffs failed to prove a nationally recognized standard of care that required an obstetrician/gynecologist performing this surgery on this classification of patient to apply compression hose post-surgery. The Plaintiffs' case further fails because the Plaintiffs failed to prove that Ms. Ervin was transported from the floor to ICU without supplemental oxygen and that this alleged failure caused or contributed to her death. Finally, the Plaintiffs failed to prove that a nursing policy and procedure required the nurses to override the decision of the physician not to prescribe compression stocking devices.

The Plaintiffs' case also fails as a matter of law because the Plaintiffs failed to establish a national standard of care (i.e., a duty to use compression devices in this classification of a patient) and, if such devices had been used, that this caused the death of the decedent. The Plaintiffs had one standard of care and causation witness, Dr. Harold Miller, who, when asked what the standard of care was, stated:

- Q. And after reviewing those policies and procedures, as well as all other medical records, were you able to form opinions as to deviations from the standard of care as they apply to Dr. James Beckham?
  - A. Yes.
- Q. All right, what about deviations as to the standard of care as they apply to the staff and nurses at Delta Regional Medical Center?
  - A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And would you tell us, if you would, based upon reasonable medical probability, what, if any, deviations there were as far as Dr. Beckham is concerned, and then I'll ask you to support them with whatever you feel necessary.
- A. The deviation I found was the lack of utilizing anti-prophylaxis measures.

R.E. 6; Tr. 104.

\* \* \*

- Q. All right. Have you used SCDs in your practice or in your teaching?
- A. Yes
- Q. And how often I mean how long have you been doing so?
- A. For over ten years.
- Q. All right, before the SCDs, what did you use?
- A. TED hose.
- Q. All right, and before the TED hose, what did you use?
- A. Ace bandages.
- Q. Why did you change and use them in the order that you just let me ask it this way. What order did you use them in?
  - A. The order was Ace bandages, to TED hoses, and to SCDs.
  - Q. Why?
- A. As the technology improved then obviously we tried to maintain the standard that was practiced in the community, or at least using some devices. (Emphasis added.)

R.E. 6; Tr. 132.

\* \* \*

Q. Okay. And when, in your opinion based upon reasonable medical probability, should anything have been placed on Mrs. Ervin, and you're going to have to tell the Court when, what, and how it was supposed to have been done?

A. <u>We commonly</u> use TED hoses or SCDs. After the patients are put to sleep, these devises are placed on a patient's legs before anything else is done. (Emphasis added.)

R.E. 6; Tr. 133.

\* \* \*

- Q. All right. Now, you based your opinion on what your - what did you base all this opinion on which you've given here today?
- A. The opinion is based upon fifty-four years of practicing medicine, my training, my experience, reading literature, attending meetings, talking to colleagues.
  - Q. All right, have you -
  - A. And standard of care in the community. (Emphasis added.)
- Q. Okay. Do you feel like Dr. Beckham did deviate from the standard of care?
  - A. Yes.
- Q. All right. Do you feel like the nurses at Delta Regional Medical Center deviated from the standard of care?
  - A. Yes.

R.E. 6; Tr. 176-177.

\* \* \*

- Q. Now, if I understand what you testified to, the only criticism you have of Dr. Beckham and the nurses is that you believe that the standard of care requires the use of ACE bandages, or TED hose, or sequential compression devices applied at the time of surgery and kept on the patient thereafter until the patient starts ambulating?
  - A. Essentially, yes.

R.E. 6; Tr. 179.

\* \* \*

When asked where this standard of care comes from, Dr. Harold Miller testified unequivocally:

The opinion is based upon fifty-four years of practicing medicine, my training, my experience, reading literature, attending meetings, talking to colleagues.

R.E. 6; Tr. 176.

As will be developed in the brief, two other, younger, obstetricians testified at trial. The treating physician, Dr. James Beckham, is Board Certified in Obstetrics and Gynecology and was trained at the San Diego Naval Hospital in Obstetrics and Gynecology. (R.E. 6; Tr. 272-76). Dr. Beckham testified that, in his obstetrical/gynecological training, he was not trained to use Ace bandages, TED hose, sequential compression devices on patients in this classification. (R.E. 6; Tr. 272-76). Dr. Carl Reddix is Board Certified in Obstetrics and Gynecology and received his training at one of the premier medical training hospitals in the United States, The Johns Hopkins Hospital. (R.E. 6; Tr. 487). Dr. Reddix testified that, when he began his training, TED hose, sequential compression devices, were used but that, by the time he completed his training, his instructors at this premier medical hospital had abandoned the use of these devices. (R.E. 6; Tr. 491-93).

Thus, not only did the Plaintiffs not prove a "nationally recognized standard of care", the proof at trial at best was that there are two schools of thought, two standards of care, Dr. Miller's standard of care at his hospital, in the community in which he practices, which uses compression devices, and Drs. Beckham and Reddix's standard of care for the non-use of compression devices. Finally, one of the leading vascular surgeons in the South, Dr. Rigdon, testified that the logic behind using these devices at best is "fuzzy" and that taking the "literature" as a whole is up to the individual surgeon in this classification of patients to decide whether to use these devices or not. (R.E. 6; Tr. 617-19).

In medical malpractice cases, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated:

To present a prima facie case of medical malpractice, a plaintiff, (1) after establishing the doctor-patient relationship and its attendant duty, is generally required to present expert testimony (2) identifying

and articulating the requisite standard of care; and (3) establishing that the defendant physician failed to conform to the standard of care. In addition, (4) the plaintiff must prove the physician's noncompliance with the standard of care caused the plaintiff's injury, as well as proving (5) the extent of the plaintiff's damages.

Cheeks v. Bio-Medical Applications, Inc., 908 So.2d 117 (Miss. 2005) (citing McCaffrey v. Puckett, 784 So.2d 197, 206 (Miss. 2001). As a general rule in medical malpractice actions, negligence cannot be established without medical testimony that the defendant failed to use ordinary skill and care. Brooks v. Roberts, 882 So.2d 229, 232 (Miss. 2004). The Mississippi Supreme Court set forth the standard of care for medical malpractice cases in Hall v. Hilbun, 466 So. 2d 856, 873 (Miss. 1985), stating:

[G]iven the circumstances of each patient, each physician has a duty to use his or her knowledge and therewith treat through maximum reasonable medical recovery, each patient, with such reasonable diligence, skill, competence, and prudence as are practiced by minimally competent physicians in the same specialty or general field of practice throughout the United States, who have available to them the same general facilities, services, equipment and options. (Emphasis added.)

The burden is on the Plaintiffs to establish a national recognized standard of care, and the breach of that standard of care. See, Phillips v. Hull, 516 So.2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1987)(legal duty of surgeons in surgical procedures is to use reasonable and ordinary care as other surgeons in good standing would ordinarily exercise in like cases under nationally recognized standards....).

The trial court found that Plaintiffs failed to establish a nationally recognized standard of care, the breach of that standard and a causal relationship between the alleged breach and Ms. Ervin's death. Based on studies, literature, training and experience, all of the experts in this case, except Plaintiffs' expert, agreed that Dr. Beckham followed the standard of care as to the use or non-

use of prophylactic compression devices in Ms. Ervin's case. Plaintiffs' expert disagreed that Dr. Beckham followed the standard of care but offered no national standard of care, only his standard in his community, and offered no peer reviewed literature to support his position.

Also, the Plaintiffs wholly failed to demonstrate a breach of the standard of care by the nurses in this case. The Plaintiffs in this case clearly seized upon the erroneous deposition testimony of Natalie Reed and attempted to concoct a story that Ms. Ervin was transferred to ICU without supplemental oxygen. The Plaintiffs' attempt to focus on the alleged lack of oxygen was a red herring, as the records and testimony clearly reflect that Ms. Ervin was provided supplemental oxygen while being transferred to the ICU. (R.E. 5; D.E. 012, 054, 055, 077).

Finally, the Plaintiffs have wholly failed to carry the burden of proof on causation. In a medical malpractice case, recovery is allowed only when the failure of the physician to render the required level of care results in the loss of a reasonable probability of substantial improvement in the patient's condition. *Clayton v. Thompson*, 475 So.2d 439, 445 (Miss. 1985). In other words, adequate proof in a medical malpractice case requires evidence that in the absence of the alleged malpractice, a better result was probable, or more likely than not. *Ladner v. Campbell*, 515 So. 2d 882, 889 (Miss. 1992), citing 54 A.L.R. 4th 10 § 4. Plaintiffs' expert, Dr. Miller, testified that he could not say definitively where Ms. Ervin's pulmonary embolus originated; *i.e.*, whether in the legs or in the pelvis. (R.E. 5 and 6; D.E. 409; Tr. 191-92). However, the Defendants' expert witnesses clearly opined and well supported their opinions that the pulmonary embolus in this case originated in the pelvis. All experts agree, mechanical devices on the legs would not have prevented the formation of blood clots in the pelvis. Therefore, even if Dr. Beckham had followed Dr. Miller's opinion of the community standard of care, applying a compression device to Ms. Ervin's legs would

not have prevented the embolus from forming in her pelvis and would not have prevented her ultimate death.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. FACTS

Janice Ervin, a 40-year-old black female, had been suffering from uterine fibroids, which Dr. James Ray Beckham, an employee of DRMC, had treated since May, 2004.(R.E. 5; D.E. 039, 103). Following the failure of conservative treatment for Ms. Ervin's condition, Dr. Beckham suggested a hysterectomy and discussed the procedure, risks and benefits with Ms. Ervin. (R.E. 5; D.E. 088, 132). Ms. Ervin agreed that the procedure was reasonable and necessary and gave her informed consent allowing Dr. Beckham to proceed with the surgery. (R.E. 5; D.E. 088, 132).

Dr. Beckham initially planned for Ms. Ervin to undergo a vaginal hysterectomy, which would not require an abdominal incision. (R.E. 6; Tr. 227-29). However, upon examining Ms. Ervin under anesthesia, Dr. Beckham determined that the vaginal route was not the best means to proceed with Ms. Ervin's hysterectomy due to adhesions from prior surgeries; therefore, he changed the procedure to an open abdominal hysterectomy. (R.E. 6; Tr. 227-29). Dr. Beckham conducted the procedure successfully and without incident. (R.E. 5; D.E 039, 103). Ms. Ervin was returned to her room at approximately 1015 on the 15<sup>th</sup> of October, 2004. (R.E. 5; D.E. 050). Throughout the 15<sup>th</sup>, various individuals visited Ms. Ervin, and the nurses attended to Ms. Ervin according to the orders and directives of her physician, Dr. Beckham. (R.E. 5; D.E. 022, 050, 052). Dr. Beckham's orders included having Ms. Ervin turn, cough and deep breathe every two hours. (R.E. 5; D.E. 022).

On the morning of October 16, 2004, Dr. Beckham rounded early and ordered that Ms.

Ervin's Foley catheter be discontinued and ordered her to ambulate as tolerated. (R.E. 5; D.E. 023, 041). Immediately following Dr. Beckham's orders, the Foley catheter was removed, and Ms. Ervin was assisted to the bathroom by a nurse's aid. (R.E. 5; D.E. 054). While in the bathroom, Ms. Ervin called out to her husband who opened the door to the bathroom. (R.E. 6; Tr. 69). When Mr. Ervin opened the door, Ms. Ervin collapsed in his arms. (R.E. 6; Tr. 69). The nurse's aid pulled the call light, and the nursing staff responded immediately. (R.E. 5; D.E. 042, 054). At that point, Ms. Ervin was noted to be cold, clammy and short of breath. (R.E. 5; D.E. 054). Ms. Ervin was placed in her bed whereupon it was noted that she had O<sub>2</sub> saturation of 68%, among other vital signs. (R.E. 5; D.E. 054). The nursing staff immediately placed a non-re-breather mask to deliver supplemental oxygen to Ms. Ervin with the oxygen flow set at 10L per minute. (R.E. 5; D.E. 054). The nursing staff immediately notified Dr. Beckham, who promptly returned to Ms. Ervin's room. (R.E. 5; D.E. 042, 054). Additionally, the floor nurses contacted the nursing supervisor, Josh Edwards, who also reported to Ms. Ervin's room. (R.E. 5; D.E. 054).

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